FILED 09-15-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2022AP965-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

CLINTON D. CLUCAS,

Defendant-Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM A FINAL ORDER PARTIALLY DENYING THE STATE'S MOTION TO ADMIT OTHER ACTS EVIDENCE, IN PORTAGE COUNTY BRANCH 1, THE HON. THOMAS EAGON PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

DA Cass Cousins
District Attorney – Portage County

Andy Mutchler Assistant District Attorney State Bar #1115725

Attorneys for Plaintiff- Appellant

Office of the District Attorney 1516 Church St. Stevens Point, WI 54481 (715) 346-1300 (715) 346-1236 (Fax) Andrew.Mutchler@da.wi.gov

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. When the legislature has directed that "In a criminal proceeding alleging... domestic abuse... or an offense... subject to the surcharge in Wis. Stat. 973.055... evidence of any similar acts by the accused is admissible, and is admissible without regard to whether the victim of the crime that is the subject of the proceeding is the same as the victim in the similar act," under what circumstances may a trial court exclude prior acts of domestic violence against the same victim and a different victim?

The trial court ruled that the State did not make a sufficient showing as to the admissibility of three of the four other acts referenced in its motion, stating in its decision with regard to acts 1 and 2:

"...the need for this evidence [Act 1] appears to be low given the facts of the case so the Court will not grant the request to present the Act 1 evidence.

And for similar reasons, the Court is not going to grant the request to use the Act 2 evidence...

It [Act 2] is similar in facts, and does not appear to be essential to proving the State's case."

A-AP 25:7-11, 16-17.

Additionally, the trial court stated with regard to act 3:

"...the Court will not allow that incident [Act 3] to come into play..."

A-AP 24:10.

In its analysis trial court failed to properly apply the greater latitude standard as required by *Dorsey* and did not make any determination about whether Clucas' fundamental due process rights would be violated by admission of the other acts.

2. Can a trial court order the State present other acts evidence solely through individuals with personal knowledge of the other acts?

In its ruling, the trial court said

"If circumstances change during the trial, the State may renew the motion. However, the State would need to have witnesses with personal knowledge of these incidents if they want to bring it in."

A-AP 25:20-23.

In its motion, the State proposed proving the other acts evidence by criminal complaints, judgments of conviction, and testimony from the victim. A-AP 39-40.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State does not request oral argument. Publication of this Court's opinion may be appropriate to provide guidance to trial courts in deciding under

Case 2022AP000965 Brief of Appellant Filed 09-15-2022 Page 5 of 21

what circumstances evidence deemed "admissible" under Wis. Stat. 904.04(2)(b)1 may, nonetheless be excluded.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

In a criminal complaint filed May 28, 2021, the State of Wisconsin charged Clinton Clucas with Disorderly Conduct with a Domestic Abuse Enhancer and Domestic Abuse Assessments pursuant to Wis. Stat. 973.055 and Misdemeanor Bail Jumping from an incident that occurred on March 8, 2021. A-AP 1, 42. Clucas was also on bond in 20CM180 for Disorderly Conduct with the Domestic Abuse modifier. A-AP 3, 44.

According to the complaint, on March 8, 2021, Clucas and the victim, K.C., were going through a divorce and had been legally separated. A-AP 3, 43. Clucas and K.C. were in the midst of a child exchange when K.C. went to Clucas' home to pick up the kids. *Id.* During that child exchange, Clucas' father asked to say goodbye to the kids so K.C. delayed leaving. *Id.* Clucas then stormed down the stairs and got in K.C.'s face. *Id.* K.C. tried to leave, but Clucas accused her of spreading lies about him, threatened to 'fuck her up', then hit her on the side of her head. *Id*; A-AP 46.

Prior to trial, the State filed a motion to admit other acts evidence relating to past convictions and incidents involving domestic abuse committed by Clucas. A-AP 28-40. The motion quoted the provision of Wis. Stat. 904.04(2)(b)1 that such evidence "is admissible" and requested the trial court allow the State to present evidence of the Clucas' prior other acts involving domestic abuse. A-AP 33-34, 40.

Chronologically, the first other act occurred on June 20, 2013 in 13CF258. A-AP 48-51. At the time, Clucas' girlfriend, E.V., had been speaking with Clucas' father the previous day. A-AP 50. Clucas knew from past experience that when E.V. was speaking with his father she would often confide in him about problems between E.V. and Clucas, including his controlling behavior. *Id.* Clucas became verbally abusive towards E.V. prompting E.V. to leave their home to give him time to cool off. *Id.* When E.V. returned, Clucas again began yelling at her, cursing at her repeatedly and hurling multiple insults towards her. *Id.* Clucas then began threatening to kill E.V. and her kids, saying he would twist her head 'like an owl.' *Id.* Clucas grabbed one of E.V.'s phones and smashed it along with the SIM card, wrapped his arm around E.V.'s neck to put her in a chokehold, twice, and dragged her along the floor away from the front door and into the kitchen to prevent her escape. *Id.*

Clucas was charged with Strangulation Suffocation, Battery, and Disorderly Conduct, all three as Domestic Abuse, as well as Criminal Damage to Property. A-AP 48-49. These acts of domestic abuse were similar in that in both instances Clucas became enraged and lashed out at the victim because the victim was spending time with the defendant's father. This is precisely what happened in the present case.

Case 2022AP000965 Brief of Appellant Filed 09-15-2022 Page 6 of 21

Clucas pled guilty on October 1, 2013 to charges of Battery and Disorderly Conduct, both subject to the domestic abuse surcharge under Wis. Stat. 973.055. A-AP 52. Clucas pled no contest to a charge of Criminal Damage to Property and a charge of Strangulation Suffocation was dismissed and read in, the latter charge was subject to the Domestic Abuse surcharge under Wis. Stat. 973.055. *Id*.

The trial court excluded this other act due to remoteness in time, the fact it occurred with a different girlfriend, the level of violence in the act compared to the present case, and that it wasn't necessary to prove the State's case. A-AP 24:13-23. Here the trial court failed to consider in its examination that the victim had just interacted with the defendant's father and this enraged Clucas. The trial court did not consider the legislative directive in Wis. Stat. 904.04(2)(b) in the other acts analysis or the greater latitude standard required by *Dorsey*.

The second other act occurred on July 7, 2013 in 13CF274. A-AP 55-58. Clucas, facing multiple charges for the incident on June 20, 2013, again attacked his girlfriend E.V. in their home. A-AP 57. Clucas grabbed E.V. by the arm unprovoked, twisted it, then pushed her across the room onto the couch. *Id.* E.V. was panicking, repeatedly saying 'No, no, no' and Clucas said to her 'my life is going to be ruined' and 'I'm facing seven years, there goes my life.' while he was attacking E.V. *Id.*

Clucas was charged with Battery and Disorderly Conduct, both as Domestic Abuse, and Misdemeanor and Felony Bail Jumping arising from the charges related to the June 20, 2013 incident. A-AP 55-56.

Clucas pled guilty on October 1, 2013 to Battery and Misdemeanor Bail Jumping while charges of Disorderly Conduct and Felony Bail Jumping were dismissed and read in. A-AP 59. The charges of Battery and Disorderly conduct were subject to the Domestic Abuse surcharge under Wis. Stat. 973.055. *Id*.

The trial court excluded this other act for similar reasons why it excluded Act 1, remoteness in time, the level of violence, and the necessity for proving the State's case. A-AP 25:10-13. Again, the circuit failed to consider the legislative directive in Wis. Stat. 904.04(2)(b) and the greater latitude standard required by *Dorsey*.

The third other act occurred on March 30, 2019 when Clucas was referred over for a charge of Disorderly Conduct as a domestic incident. A-AP 61-64. Clucas and K.C., his wife, had an argument and Clucas pushed her and twisted her arm while she was holding their one and a half year old daughter in her arms. A-AP 62. This case was ultimately not charged. A-AP 64.

The trial court excluded this other act because it believed it was not relevant, would be confusing to the jury about the issues, and the prejudicial impact would outweigh the probative value. A-AP 23-24:20-25, 1-12. Again, the circuit failed to

Case 2022AP000965 Brief of Appellant Filed 09-15-2022 Page 7 of 21

consider the legislative directive in Wis. Stat. 904.04(2)(b) and the greater latitude standard required by *Dorsey*.

The fourth other act occurred on June 23, 2020 in 20CM180. A-AP 65-67. K.C. and Clucas had an argument and Clucas got in her face to try and intimidate her, prevented K.C. from locking herself in the bathroom or bedroom, and prevented K.C. from pushing passed him to escape. A-AP 66.. Clucas repeatedly insulted K.C. and threw a nearly full bottle of water at K.C., hitting her in the collarbone and nearly hitting their 7 month old daughter. *Id*.

Clucas was charged with Disorderly Conduct as Domestic Abuse. A-AP 65.

Clucas pled no contest on October 5, 2021 to a charge of Disorderly Conduct subject to Domestic Abuse Assessments. A-AP 68. The charge of Disorderly Conduct was subject to the Domestic Abuse surcharge under Wis. Stat. 973.055. *Id.*

The trial court admitted this evidence at trial. A-AP 23:18-19.

In its ruling, the trial court said "If circumstances change during the trial, the State may renew the motion. However, the State would need to have witnesses with personal knowledge of these incidents if they want to bring it in." A-AP 25:20-23.

The State's motion sought to bring these four other acts in as evidence at trial for the purposes of establishing a pattern of behavior, buttress the credibility of the victim, Clucas' intent or motive, and absence of mistake or accident. A-AP 28, 36-37.

The trial court did not at any point make a determination that Clucas' fundamental due process rights would have been violated by admission of the first three other acts evidence when it excluded the evidence of the other acts. Nor did the trial court did consider the legislative directive set forth in Wis. Stat. 904.04(2)(b) or the greater latitude standard required by *Dorsey*.

The Court signed a written order¹ on June 8, 2022 and the State filed its Notice of Appeal that same day after the written order was signed. A-AP 81.

The State is contesting the trial court's ruling only as to the first three other acts that were denied and not the fourth other act which has been granted. The State is also contesting the court's ruling limiting the methods of presenting the other acts evidence to the jury by requiring individuals with personal knowledge be present at trial.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

¹ There is a typo in the written order stating the Motion Hearing took place on May 25, 2022 when it actually occurred May 19, 2022. All other details in the order are accurate.

Case 2022AP000965 Brief of Appellant Filed 09-15-2022 Page 8 of 21

The facts of the other acts are not in dispute, the error occurred due to the trial court's incorrect interpretation of the statute and statutory interpretation presents a question of law that is reviewed *de novo*. *State v. McReynolds*, 2022 WI App 25, ¶ 56, 402 Wis. 2d 175, 210 (citing *State v. Grady*, 2007 WI 81, ¶ 14, 302 Wis. 2d 80, 89).

ARGUMENT

- I. The trial court erred when it failed to properly apply Wis. Stat. 904.04(2)(b) by failing to show proper deference to the Legislative directive that other acts evidence involving domestic abuse or subject to the domestic abuse surcharge "is admissible" in domestic abuse cases.
 - A. The Wisconsin Legislature has the power to adopt evidentiary rules with directory statutes.

In *State v. James*, the Wisconsin Court of Appeals ruled that procedures dictating admissibility and presentation of evidence when such procedures are *defined by the legislature* are binding on trial courts because it "falls within the vast region of shared power between the judiciary and the legislature." 2005 WI App 188 ¶ 19, 285 Wis.2d 783.

The evidence at issue in *James* was admissibility of the video interviews of the child victims of sexual assault by the defendant in lieu of full direct examination of the child victims under Wis. Stat. 908.08. *James*, 2005 WI App 188 ¶ 3. The children would also be made available for cross examination by the defense. *Id*.

The trial court in *James* held a hearing and determined that live testimony from the child victims would have to come prior to playing of the video interviews contrary to Wis. Stat. 908.08(5) which required presentation of the video interviews prior to any live testimony on direct or cross examination. The basis for the court's ruling was a concern that the child victims would freeze during cross examination after the videos had already been played for the jury causing confrontation clause violation under *Crawford* after the court would be required to strike the testimony of the child victims for refusing to testify on cross examination or possibly cause a mistrial. *James*, 2005 WI App 188 ¶ 4 (citing *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 US 36 (2004)). The additional basis for the trial court's decision was rooted in Wis. Stats. 908.08(3)(e), 904.03, and 906.11. *Id.* at ¶ 4-5.

Wis. Stat. 908.08(3)(e) requires a court determine whether the statements on the video interviews would "deprive any party of a fair opportunity to meet the allegations made in the statements" and the court decided that it would be unable to make that determination until meaningful cross examination had taken place at trial. *Id.* at ¶ 5.

Case 2022AP000965 Brief of Appellant Filed 09-15-2022 Page 9 of 21

The trial court in *James* cited to Wis. Stats. 904.03 and 906.11 which permit judges to control the receipt of evidence expressing concerns about whether the legislature had the power to direct the courts to admit evidence and ultimately ruled that the court had full control over the receipt of evidence. *Id.* at \P 6-7.

The Wisconsin Court of Appeals disagreed and concluded the trial court wrongly believed the Legislature had "improperly usurped the court's authority." *Id.* at ¶ 14.

The Court of Appeals explained, "the order of evidence prescribed in the statute furthers the *protective purpose* of the statute and therefore *legitimately qualifies* as an exercise of legislative power to regulate the welfare of the public." Id. at ¶ 19, (emphasis added). Further the Court stated, "no one questions the judiciary may legitimately rule on the admissibility of evidence at trial and control the order and presentation of evidence." Id. at ¶ 20, (citations omitted). "Courts have inherent authority over their internal operations and to ensure the fair and efficient administration of justice." Id, (citation omitted). Further, the Court of Appeals ruled that the statute at issue in James, 908.08, fell "within the vast region of shared power between the judiciary and the legislature." Id.

Additionally, the Court of Appeals in *James* held "Wis. Stat. 908.08 does not impermissibly interfere with the functioning of the judiciary and constitutes an appropriate exercise of shared judicial and legislative power. First, the essential function of the courts involves deciding controversies on their merits." *Id.* at ¶ 20, (citation omitted). "Although the statute *requires the court to admit* the videotapes once the court has satisfied itself that certain prerequisites have been met and deprives the court of the right to control the order in which this evidence is to be taken, it in no way fetters the fact finder's consideration of the evidence presented. The statute does not determine the result of any case before the court and therefore leaves the judiciary's authority fully intact with respect to its most important function." *Id.* (emphasis added).

Finally, the Court of Appeals contrasted a law categorically *excluding* evidence with the law at issue in *James* which categorically *admitted* evidence and found that requiring admission of evidence is no more intrusive on the authority of the court than requiring exclusion of evidence. *Id.* at ¶ 21, See *State v. Mitchell*, 144 Wis. 2d 596, 618, 424 N.W.2d 698 (1988); See also *Smith v. Rural Mut. Ins. Co.*, 20 Wis. 2d 592, 600, 123 N.W.2d 496 (1963).

Additionally, the Wisconsin State Legislature has in the past enacted valid legislation that determined the admissibility of evidence. In 2011 the Wisconsin Legislature amended Wis. Stat. 907.02 to adopt the *Daubert* standard which determines the admissibility of expert testimony at trial. *See* Wis. Stat. 907.02(1); See also *Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc.*, 509 U.S. 579 (1993). This is *after* the Wisconsin Supreme Court declined to adopt the *Daubert* standard in

Case 2022AP000965 Brief of Appellant Filed 09-15-2022 Page 10 of 21

2010, determining at the time Wisconsin's old relevancy standard remained the controlling standard. *State v. Fischer*, 2010 WI 6, 322 Wis.2d 265.

These examples show that the Wisconsin Legislature has the power to direct the courts to admit evidence at trial by statute without infringing on the authority of the courts with directory statutes. *James*, 2005 WI App 188 ¶ 20.

B. A directory statute is not unconstitutional unless it violates the defendant's right to fundamental due process as applied in the case at hand.

In *State v. Pulizzano*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court determined that the statute that prohibited the sexual history of victims from being presented at trial was not *per se* unconstitutional, however as applied it violated the defendant's constitutional right to present a defense. 456 N.W. 325, 155 Wis.2d 633 (1990).

The evidence at issue in *Pulizzano* was the admissibility of a child victim's previous sexual assault for a limited purpose of providing an alternative basis for the child victim's sexual knowledge other than the defendant. *Pulizzano*, 155 Wis.2d 633, 638-39.

Wis. Stat. 972.11(2)(b) states "If the defendant is accused of a crime under s. 940.225... if the court finds that the crime was sexually motivated... any evidence concerning the complaining witness's prior sexual conduct... shall not be admitted into evidence during the course of the hearing or trial"

The trial court in *Pulizzano* denied the defendant the right to cross examine the child victim regarding a prior sexual assault that the child victim suffered for the limited purpose of establishing an alternative source for the child victim's sexual knowledge. *Pulizzano* 155 Wis.2d 633, 640. To support this argument the defendant presented a report from a therapist who had spoken with the child victim and treated him regarding a previous sexual assault the child victim suffered. *Id.* at 639. The defendant also requested the therapist be permitted to testify at trial, which the trial court denied. *Id.* at 648. The basis for the trial court's denial was its interpretation of Wis. Stat. 972.11(2)(b) which the trial court believed prohibited presentation of evidence of a victim's sexual history regardless of the reason for it being offered. *Id.* at 640.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court ruled the statute was constitutional on its face, but that, as applied, Wis. Stat. 972.11(2)(b) violated the defendant's rights to the compulsory process, effective cross examination, right to present a defense, and her rights of confrontation under the Wisconsin Constitution and United States Constitution. *Id.* at 648-49, 655.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court stated that determinations as to the potential unconstitutionality of the law "as applied in other instances is to be resolved on a case-by-case basis." *Id.* at 655.

Case 2022AP000965 Brief of Appellant Filed 09-15-2022 Page 11 of 21

The United States Supreme Court has also ruled on the applicability of evidence rules when a defendant's Constitutional rights are in conflict with otherwise permissible evidence rules.

In *Chambers v. Mississippi*, the State of Mississippi's voucher rule and hearsay rules prevented the defendant from properly examining a witness who had confessed to the murder for which Chambers had been charged and prohibited the defendant from calling witnesses who had information relating to those confessions. 410 U.S. 284 (1973).

The trial court in *Chambers* limited the ability of the defendant to examine the witness on direct and denied the right of the defendant to cross-examine the witness who had confessed to the crime the defendant was charged with. *Id.* at 294. The trial court made these decisions based on Mississippi's voucher rule and its rules regarding hearsay. *Id.*

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