Filed 11-21-2022

FILED 11-21-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2022AP965-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

CLINTON D. CLUCAS,

Defendant-Respondent.

On Appeal from an Order Partially Denying the State's Motion to Admit Other Acts Evidence, in Portage County, the Honorable Thomas Eagon, Presiding

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT

KELSEY LOSHAW Assistant State Public Defender

State Bar No. 1086532

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-2879 loshawk@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Respondent

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

In the disorderly conduct charge at issue, the state must prove two elements: first, that "the defendant engaged in (violent)...(or otherwise disorderly) conduct;", second, that "the conduct of the defendant, under the circumstances as they then existed, tended to cause or provoke a disturbance." WI CRIM JI 1900.

Sullivan only affirms the trial court's decision. Therefore, the defense will analyze the other acts evidence under all three *Sullivan* prongs.

Here, the court properly assessed whether the proffered other acts were of consequence. As to Act 1, the court ruled that the additional evidence from Act 1 was unnecessary to indicate to the jury why there would be some discord in the pending case, which involved a divorce and child custody issues. (50:21). The court also found that Act 2 was not essential in proving the state's case. (50:22). And, finally, the court found that Act 3 was not relevant to the facts in the charged case and that it did not address a material issue. (50:21).

On appeal, the state urges this court to reverse and find that the other acts here are analogous to those allowed in *Dorsey*. (State's Brief at 13). However, the state fails to address the fact that, in *Dorsey*, intent was a specific element of the crime charged, a battery. In *Dorsey*, evidence showing that the defendant got violent "when we felt like he was disrespected or lied to" was deemed "of consequence" and therefore relevant. *Dorsey*, 2018 WI 10, ¶49. The *Dorsey* court found that these other acts were only "of consequence" to the intent element of the Battery charges at issue in that case. *Id.* at ¶¶2, 48.

However, the state's attempt to apply *Dorsey* to the facts of this case fail, considering Disorderly Conduct, as charged here, does not have an intent element. The court properly addressed this and the state conceded as much during the motion hearing. (50:12).

This second part requires the evidence to have probative value to the case at hand. Id. at ¶44. Other acts have probative value if they are similar in time, place, or circumstances to the alleged act at issue. *Id.* at ¶49. While there is no formula for determining whether acts are sufficiently similar, there are a number of factors this court should consider when determining each other act's probative value. Sullivan, 216 Wis. 2d at 787-88. While the greater latitude principle may permit a more lenient review, it does not relieve the state's burden of demonstrating that "the other acts are similar...to the alleged crime." (quoting 2018 10, Dorsey. WI ¶49 Sullivan. 216 Wis. 2d at 786). Here, the court properly considered the probative value (or lack thereof) of the other acts.

First, nearness in time should be considered when discerning an other act's probative value. While the state argues that "remoteness in time is not a relevant factor," binding precedent repeatedly advises courts to consider the timeframe between the other acts and the act at issue. (State's Br. 15); see, e.g., Dorsey, 2018WI 10, ¶¶47-49 (where the Supreme Court affirmed the lower court's use of time to determine the other act's probative value). As such, the circuit court in this case properly considered remoteness of time for Acts 1 and Act 2, both of which happened almost 7 years before the charged crime, were remote in time and therefore less probative. (50:21-22).

Additionally, the identity of the victims are also relevant factors when considering the similarities between two offenses for the purposes of determining probative value. *See State* v. *Gutierrez*, 2020 WI 52, ¶34. Here, again, the court properly considered the different identity of the victims when it determined a lack of relevance for Act 1 and Act 2. (50:21-22).

While the state attempts to argue that Act 3 is a "similar act" of domestic abuse by the same defendant and therefore admissible, the state fails to address the difference in victims. (State's Brief at 13). While both alleged incidents obviously involved the defendant, this is where the factual similarities end. Act 3 did not involve the defendant's father, involved wholly different conduct, and may have occurred in response to provocation by the alleged victim. (26:8). The lack of factually similar parties is relevant and demonstrates a lack of probative value as to Act 3, despite the state's argument.

Courts should also consider whether the similarities between the acts are distinct or complex. *Sullivan*, 216 Wis. 2d at 787-88. Distinct or factually complex similarities strengthen a finding that these other acts have probative value. *Id*. On the other hand, factual similarities that are not particularly unusual or complex weigh against finding probative value. *Id*. Here, the court properly considered that Act 1 was somewhat dissimilar in fact. (50:21).

Filed 11-21-2022

The state, on appeal, urges this court to find that the level of violence in Act 1 and 2 and that all three acts involved domestic violence make them similar to the charged conduct. (State's Brief at 13). The state's argument is generic: Mr. Clucas "reacted violently and abusively to signs of his current relationship failing and that he was losing control over his domestic partner." (State's Brief at 14).

Despite the state's best effort, any similarities between the other acts and the conduct charged here is connected to motive, which is not of consequence to the case at hand and therefore inadmissible even under a greater latitude assessment. The state failed to offer additional similarities on appeal that would justify this court reversing the circuit court's discretionary decision regarding probative value.

Additionally, the other acts are, in fact, dissimilar. First, Act 1 was remote in time, involved dissimilar circumstances, and implicated a different victim. As the trial court aptly notes, the chokeholds that occurred in Act 1 were substantially more violent, threatening, and dissimilar to the single "hit" allegedly thrown in the case at hand. (50:21). While differences abound between the two acts, the thin similarities present do not involve distinct or complex circumstances that would favor finding probative value. The fact that a romantic partner is the victim of battery or disorderly conduct is not unusual or distinctive. And while the alleged victims in both cases had recently had contact with Clucas's father, interactions between a person's partner and father are

24

commonplace in many families. The absence of distinct similarities between the two acts, coupled with their many significant differences, compel a reasonable finding of no probative value for Act 1.

Act 2 reasonably fails *Sullivan*'s second prong for similar reasons. While the differences here are analogous to those in Act 1, the factual similarities between the two incidents are even flimsier. In Act 2, the victim had not recently contacted the defendant's father. (26:2-4). The methods of injury were also divergent and in Act 2, unlike in the case at hand, Clucas had recently been drinking heavily. (25:2; 26:2-4). Thus, the incidents bear no factual similarities except that the victims were both romantic partners. A finding of no probative value is clearly reasonable for Act 2.

And, finally, Act 3 is different in fact from the current charges. Act 3 involved no physical injury, was pre-divorce with the victim, and was an incident that resulted from the victim pouring out a bottle of Mr. Clucas's alcohol in front of him. (26:8). Additionally, Act 3 provided significant context and an explanation for Mr. Clucas's behavior—that he gets angry after he has seizures. (26:8). The current offense does not involve alcohol, was after filing of the divorce, and involved custody disputes over the children. (25:2).

iii. The circuit court properly exercised its discretion in finding that the probative value of each Act was outweighed by its prejudice to the defendant.

The court properly exercised its discretion when it determined that the other act's evidence failed *Sullivan*'s third prong. The "prejudice prong" requires courts to determine whether the other act's probative value, as assessed in the relevance prong, is substantially outweighed by its danger of unfair prejudice against the defendant. *Sullivan*, 216 Wis. 2d at 772-73; *State v. Payano*, 2009 WI 86, ¶81, 320 Wis. 2d 348, 768 N.W.2d 832. Courts applying this prejudice prong must be wary of other acts evidence that is probative of "nothing more than the defendant's propensity to act a certain way." *State v. McGowan*, 2006 WI App 80, ¶17, 291 Wis. 2d 212, 221, 715 N.W.2d 631, 636.

Unfair when evidence prejudice occurs encourages a jury to base its decision on factors other than the established facts of the case. Sullivan, 216 Wis. 2d at 789-90. These impermissible factors can include appealing to the jury's sympathies, confusing the jury, or compelling a jury to "convict the defendant because the other acts of evidence show him to be a bad man." Id.; Dorsey, 2018 WI 10, ¶8 n.12; see also State v. Fishnick, 127 Wis. 2d 247, 261-62, 378 N.W.2d 272, 280 (1985). These prejudicial factors are intensified when the other acts are graphic, disturbing, or arouse a "sense of horror." See Sullivan, Case 2022AP000965 Brief of Respondent

Filed 11-21-2022

216 Wis. 2d at 789-90; *State v. Veach*, 255 Wis. 2d 390, 648 N.W.2d 447.

Sullivan provides an illuminating example of applying this third principle in similar circumstances. Sullivan, 216 Wis. 2d 768. In Sullivan, the defendant was charged with battery after repeatedly punching his girlfriend while intoxicated. Id. at 776. At trial, the court admitted other acts evidence of a previous domestic disturbance where the defendant, while intoxicated, threatened to assault his ex-wife and called her a "bitch." Id. at 779. On appeal, the Wisconsin Supreme Court, using the greater latitude rule, found that this other act failed this prejudice prong. Id. 790-92. The Court reasoned that making this other act an integral part of the case, when it had few distinctive factual similarities to the alleged incident at issue, created a danger of unfair prejudice that substantially outweighed any probative value. Id. at 789-91. As a result, the Court found that the trial court erroneously exercised its discretion in admitting this other act as evidence. Id. at 789.

Here, the trial court made a discretionary determination that any probative value found in Acts 1, 2, or 3 was substantially outweighed by each act's danger of creating unfair prejudice against the defendant. (50:20-22). This decision is supported by the similar ruling in *Sullivan* and the reasons the court set forth for refusing to admit overly prejudicial other acts. Specifically, presenting all three acts together will create a pattern of evidence that will surely encourage the jury to convict simply because they may believe him to be a "bad man." Additionally, Act 1 involves substantially more graphic and disturbing behavior than the actions in case at hand, which compounds the risk of prejudice against the defendant. (25:8-9). Act 2 also involved disturbing conduct by the defendant. (26:2-3). Finally, the impetus for the defendant's actions in Act 3 were also unclear which, as the court appropriately noted, will only heighten confusion amongst the jury. (50:20-21). All these factors cumulatively create an immense risk of unfair prejudice against the defendant. On the other hand, as explained previously, these acts provide little, if any, probative value.

The state offers no argument, except to say that the Dorsey court ruled that the defendant didn't meet its burden to show that the prejudice substantially outweighed the probative value of the other act evidence, as to why this court abused its discretion by denying its request on Act 1, 2, and 3. (State's Brief at 16-17). However, the procedural posture of *Dorsey* is different than this case. In *Dorsey*, the defendant was challenging the court's ruling that *allowed* other acts evidence. Dorsey, 2018 WI 10, ¶52. It was therefore on the defendant to show how the court's ruling was erroneous—how the prejudicial value of the evidence substantially outweighed the probative value. Id. This case is a state's appeal—the state has the burden to show how the court's ruling was erroneous. The state fails to provide any argument as to why the court's ruling was an erroneous exercise of discretion.

Page 29 of 33

The trial court applied the *Sullivan* analysis in the greater latitude context before correctly denying the admission of Acts 1, 2, and 3. While the trial court could have reasonably found that these other acts also failed *Sullivan*'s first and second prongs, the court accurately concluded that these other acts failed the final prejudice prong. Given the broad discretion afforded to the trial court to make evidentiary determinations, this court must affirm the trial court's decision denying the admission of Act 1, Act 2, and Act 3 at trial.

II. The trial court properly exercised its discretion in limiting the admissibility of evidence in the event the state successfully renewed its motion to admit other acts.

The trial court properly exercised its discretion in limiting how the other acts may be presented if the state successfully renews its motion to admit these other acts as evidence.

First and foremost, the state's issue is not even ripe for appeal. Act 4, which the court ruled admissible, concerned allegations from the same victim as alleged in this case. (26:12). This other act would be presented through live testimony. (50:11). Because the court ruled that the other acts evidence was not admissible, the issue of whether the court abused its discretion in requiring introduction of testimony versus a complaint with hearsay is not an issue for this court on appeal. "An issue is moot when its resolution will have no practical effect on the

29

underlying controversy." Matter of Commitment of J.W.K., 2019 WI 54, ¶11, 386 Wis. 2d 672, 683, 927 N.W.2d 509, 515, citing PRN Associates LLC v. State of Wisconsin Department of Administration, 2009 WI 53, ¶25, 317 Wis. 2d 656, 766 N.W.2d 559, see also City of Racine v. J-T Enters. Of Am., Inc., 64 Wis. 2d 691, 700, 221 N.W.2d 869 (1974).

In addition to the presenting a moot issue, the state cites no case law to support its position that the circuit court lacks the ability to decide how a party must present other acts evidence to a jury. Additionally, the cases cited by the state are inapplicable. First, the state cites *Hezzie R*., which is entirely unrelated to the presentation of evidence or the court's discretion in evidentiary matters. *In Int. of Hezzie R*., 219 Wis. 2d 848, 580 N.W.2d 660 (1998).⁴

The state also cites *Huddleston v. U.S.*,485 U.S. 681 (1988), to suggest that evidence is admissible as long as the state shows that a reasonable jury would have concluded that the defendant committed the other act. This is an erroneous application of *Huddleston*, as *Huddleston* doesn't address the actual

⁴ In fact, *Hezzie R.* is unrelated to the proposition it is allegedly supposed to support in the state's brief. *Compare* Appellant Br. 19 ("And it is proper to read Wis. Stat. 904.04(2)(b) as requiring the same as the Federal Rules of Evidence 404(b)") with In Int. of Hezzie R., 219 Wis. 2d 848, 580 N.W.2d 660, 676 (1998) (where the court mentions neither Wis. Stat. § 904.04(2)(b) nor the Federal Rules of Evidence when discussing the due process rights of a juvenile defendant).

issue at hand. While *Huddleston* deals with the state's burden when seeking admission of other acts evidence under Fed. R. Evid. 404(b), the case says nothing about the court's use of discretion over *how* other acts evidence are to be presented to the jury. *Id.* at 682.

In fact, the other acts evidence admitted in *Huddleston* still has to comply with the other rules of evidence. See State v. Davidson, 2000 WI 91, ¶¶50-52, citing State v. Plymesser, 172 Wis. 2d 583, 598, 493 N.W.2d 367, 374 (1992). Thus, even if this court found that the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion on denying admission of Act 1, 2, and 3, the court still has full authority to determine *how* a party can present the evidence at trial. A trial court's ruling on how a party is required to present evidence was not at issue in *Huddleston*, as the state presented its other acts evidence through live witness testimony. Therefore, *Huddleston* is inapplicable to the case here.

In summary, the trial court's exercise of discretion in determining the presentation of other acts evidence is not ripe on appeal. Even if this issue was reviewable by this court, the state has failed to provide any evidence that trial courts have no discretion in how the state may present other acts evidence to a jury.

CONCLUSION

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